
DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD MEETING 

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 16, 2023 

9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

ONE VISITORS CENTER CIRCLE 

MANTEO, NC 27954 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order    

 

II. Pledge of Allegiance & Moment of Silence  

 

III. Approval of Agenda 

     

IV. Approval of Minutes from the October 19, 2023 Meeting  

 

V. Public Comments  

 

VI. Presentations 

  1.  Chicamacomico Historical Association 

2.  Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Audit Presentation-Jonathan Dail, Johnson, Mizelle, Straub & 

Consolvo, LLP 

  

VII. Chairman’s Report 

 

VIII. Budget & Finance Report 

1. Monthly Reports 

2. Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget Amendment 

 

IX. Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Updates   

  

X.  Old Business  

     

XI. New Business 

 

XII.      Board Member Comments 

   

XIII. Set Date, Time, and Place of Next Meeting    

 

XIV. Adjournment 

 

 

 

 



 

October 19, 2023 Dare County Tourism Board  1 

RECORD OF MINUTES 

DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 19, 2023 

9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

MANTEO, NC 27954 

 

 

ATTENDING:   

Tim Cafferty, Chairman; Monica Thibodeau, Vice Chair; Ervin Bateman, Treasurer; Ivy Ingram, Assistant 

Treasurer; David Hines, Secretary; Mark Ballog, Gray Berryman, Tod Clissold, Tonia Cohen, Leo Holland, 

Dennis Robinson, and Mike Siers, and Jay Wheless. 

 

EXCUSED ABSENCE: Richard Hess. 

 

STAFF: 

Lee Nettles, Executive Director  

Diane Bognich, Director of Administration  

Amy Wood, Clerk to the Board/Administrative Specialist  

Lorrie Love, Tourism Sales Manager 

Aaron Tuell, Public Relations Manager 

Jeff Schwartzenberg, Community Engagement Manager 

Gitzelle Enciso-Ramirez, Marketing Intern 

 

OTHERS ATTENDING: Dave Hallac, Superintendent, Outer Banks Group, National Park Service; Shari 

Fiveash, Room in the Inn; Randy Fiveash.  

 

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.  The Board then recited the pledge of allegiance, followed by a 

moment of silence.   

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mr. Holland moved to approve the agenda. Second by Ms. Thibodeau. There was 

no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (12-0). 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Ms. Thibodeau moved to approve the meeting minutes from September 21, 2023 

meeting. Second by Mr. Holland. There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (12-0). 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Superintendent Hallac provided updates on activities within the Cape Hatteras National 

Seashore, including remediation efforts at the old Coast Guard base area in Buxton, progress with threatened 

structures in Rodanthe, bike path progress, and Cape Hatteras Lighthouse renovation contract awarded.  

 

CHAIRMAN’S/STEERING REPORT:  The Chair updated the Board on the Long Range Tourism 

Management Plan (LRTMP) Special Committee progress.  Over 100 applications had been received for the seats 

on the committee.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

October 19, 2023 Dare County Tourism Board  2 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN’S/STEERING REPORT (continued): 

 

Lee Nettles reviewed the Tourism Impact Grant requests and evaluation process, noting that the Steering 

Committee  found the application from Outer Banks Room In the Inn did not meet the Tourism Impact Grant 

guidelines, and that a portion of the request from Network for Endangered Sea Turtles was not applicable 

according to the guidelines.  

 

Following the review, Ms. Ingram moved to award the following Tourism Impact Grant Award: 

Organization Project 
Project 

Amount 

Recommended 

Award 

Chicamacomico 

Historical Association 

1874 Life-Saving Station Restoration 

 

$158,775.00 

 

$115,000.00 

Duck  
(Town of) 

Duck Town Park Performance Space 

Improvements 

$13,549.00 

 

$13,549.00 

Elizabethan Gardens Pathway to Discover $80,000.00 $50,000.00 

Frisco Native American 

Museum 

Ecotourism: Destination Nature Trail 

 

$44,800.00 

 

$39,300.00 

Kitty Hawk  
(Town of) 

Hwy 158 Bypass Multi-Use Path 

 

$2,000,000.00 

 

$400,000.00 

Nags Head  
(Town of ) 

East Epstein Street Sidewalk 

 

$49,500.00 

 

$49,500.00 

Governor Street Public Beach Access 

 

$147,165.00 

 

$60.477.00 

West Seachase Drive Sidewalk $45,150.00 

 

$45,150.00 

 

 

Network for Endangered 

Sea Turtles 

Sea Turtle Outreach & Educational 

Improvements 

$34,688.00 

 

$2,750.00 

North Carolina Aquarium 

Society 

Fish, Filter, Food: The Human-Oyster 

Connection 

$176,395.00 

 

$121,845.00 

Outer Banks Community 

Foundation 

Community Terrace at the OB Center for 

Nonprofits 

$153,093.92 

 

$85,000.00 

Outer Banks Forever 

 

Accessible Public Restrooms and Showers at 

Lighthouse Beach 

$383,010.27 

 

$125,000.00 

Roanoke Island Festival 

Park 

 

Raised Concrete Loading Dock 

 

$100,000.00 

 

$75,000.00 

Southern Shores  
(Town of) 

Walking Path on W. Highway 12  

 

$278,196.14 

 

$118,855.00 

Surf Pediatrics 

Foundation 

Everyone's Playground @ KHES 

 

$767,683.20 

 

$282,963.00 

 

 Total Recommended Award Amount  $1,584,389.00 

  

Second by Mr. Holland. There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (12-0). 

 

BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT:  Ms. Ingram reviewed the meals and occupancy receipts received.  

Receipts for fiscal year 2023-2024 are up 3.67% compared to 2022-2023 actual receipts.   

 

 

 



 

October 19, 2023 Dare County Tourism Board  3 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU UPDATES:  Lee Nettles noted: 

• Renovations in the marketing area were wrapping up 

• Upcoming Tourism Summit on November 2 

• Holiday events and the OBXmas.org launch 

• A meeting with Outer Banks Association of REALTORS® in November 

• Reviewed the marketing dashboard and visitation numbers. The Board discussed the use of social media 

in attracting visitors. 

 

Jeff Schwartzenberg reviewed his work with the community and the LRTMP. 

 

Lorrie Love noted recent and upcoming group sales missions and events.  She reminded the Board of the 12 Bars 

of Christmas theme and encouraged accommodation providers to partner with the participating restaurants to offer 

packages.  

 

Aaron Tuell reviewed recent press coverage and media missions.  

 

OLD BUSINESS:  There was no old business before the Board.  

 

NEW BUSINESS:  There was no new business before the Board.  

 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS:  Mr. Bateman thanked the Board for their acknowledgement of the Tobin 

family.   

Mr. Berryman noted house sales were down from September.  

Mr. Clissold noted the kick off of Bluegrass Festival in Manteo.  

Mr. Siers thanked the Board for the grant awards to the Town of Nags Head.  

Mr. Ballog provided more details on the 12 Bars of Christmas and encouraged other business to participate, even  

if they are not restaurants.  

Ms. Ingram noted the State of the Child conference (to be held in March) and encouraged local business 

employees to participate in interviews to discuss child care needs.  

Ms. Cohen noted that hotels were currently up and hoped the good weather will continue. 

Ms. Thibodeau reviewed the Duck Jazz Festival and upcoming road work in the town.  

Mr. Holland thanked the Board for the grant award to the town, and noted Southern Shores would hold their 

Veteran’s Day ceremony on November 11.   

 

SET DATE, TIME, AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING:  The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 

November 16, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. in Curtis Creech Memorial Boardroom, Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 

Administrative Office, Manteo, NC. 

 

The Chair asked if there was any further business before the Board. Hearing none, the Chair adjourned the 

meeting at 10:35 a.m. 

 

ATTESTED: 

 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 
Clerk, Dare County Tourism Board 





























































1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22







TOURISM SALES & EVENTS | INDUSTRY RELATIONS ACTIVITY – NOVEMBER 2023 
 
Tourism Sales: Co-op Opportunities Available with the AENC Trade Show 
Tourism Sales recently extended an invitation to our industry partners to 
participate alongside us at the Association Executives of North Carolina 
Annual Trade Show. This event is scheduled for December 14th in Raleigh. For 
a fee of $375.00, partners can contribute to the expenses associated with 
booth rental, activities, and decorations. Please note that this fee does not 
include the costs for overnight stays, travel, or meals. Our collective focus at 
the Showcase will be on promoting the Outer Banks as a destination, rather 
than marketing individual properties or products. The 2023 Showcase is anticipated to attract over 200 
pre-qualified meeting planners. We currently have a limited number of spots remaining. Those 
interested should reach out to Lorrie Love at love@outerbanks.org for more information.  
               
Tourism Sales: Future Trade Show Dates and Locations:  
Staff is currently scheduled for the following trade shows: 

• November 12 – 15, 2023: National Tour Association, TREX 23, Shreveport, LA 
• December 14-15, 2023: AENC Marketplace, Raleigh, NC 
• January 13-16, 2024: American Bus Association Annual Marketplace, Nashville, TN 
• March 17-19, 2024: Visit NC 365, Greenville, NC 
• March 20 – 24, 2024: STS Domestic Showcase, Little Rock, AR 
• May 3-7, 2024:  US Travel’s IPW, Los Angeles, CA 

               
Industry Relations: Restaurant Fall | Winter Hours 
The Bureau has begun calling our local restaurant partners 
for their Fall | Winter hours. This list can be found on the 
homepage of outerbanks.org called Fall|Winter Restaurant 
Hours. If you’re restaurant is not listed or times needs to be 
updated, please let us know. Please feel free to share with 
your front-line staff members to use for incoming visitors. 
               
Industry Relations: OBX Tourism Summit Wrap Up: 
The 9th Annual OBX Tourism Summit concluded with outstanding success, with 121 participants; 
approximately 40 individuals attending the nonprofit social at Swellsa' afterwards. Our post-event 
survey result will be shared in our December 2023 report. Looking ahead, we're excited to announce 
our 10th Annual OBX Summit slated for Thursday, November 7, 2023. The venue will be confirmed 
later. 
               
The Soundside Event Site:   
 
Attached is the current 2023 & 2024 Events Calendar for the Soundside Event Site for your review.  

mailto:love@outerbanks.org
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1N-MDFAhV-KQCdX6dO2RRiDF-MFiTbV6CHcvHoY7Xr_s/edit#gid=1924647155
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1N-MDFAhV-KQCdX6dO2RRiDF-MFiTbV6CHcvHoY7Xr_s/edit#gid=1924647155


Name of Event Date of Event Event Times (times may change as event 
draws closer)

Number of Attendees 
Expected

Site Reserved  Event Contact

The Wall That Heals
Wednesday, November 15-Sunday, 

November 19, 2023 24 hours

7,000-11,000 (not all at one 
time, est 3000 peak attendance 

per day)
Tuesday, November 14-Sunday, 

November 19, 2023
Patricia O'Sullivan: 252.473.7748; 

Rick Probst: 502.592.7659

Soundside Holiday Market Sunday, December 3, 2023 12:00pm - 4:00pm 500 (not all at one time) Sunday, December 3, 2023 Alex Brewer: 252.564.5251

Soundside Holiday Market Sunday, December 10, 2023 12:00pm - 4:00pm 500 (not all at one time) Sunday, December 10, 2023 Alex Brewer: 252.564.5252

Soundside Holiday Market Sunday, December 17, 2023 12:00pm - 4:00pm 500 (not all at one time) Sunday, December 17, 2023 Alex Brewer: 252.564.5253

2023 Soundside Event Site Schedule 



Name of Event Date of Event Event Times (times may 
change as event draws closer)

Site Reserved

OBX Rod and Custom Festival Friday, May 2- Saturday, May 4, 2023 10:00am - 6:00pm Tuesday, April 30 – Monday, May 6, 2024

OBX Jeep Invasion Friday, May 10-Sunday, May 12, 2024 9:00am - 5:00pm Thursday, May 9 - Sunday, May 12, 2024

Soundside Fun Fair Thursday, June 6-Sunday, June 9, 2024 5:00pm - 10:00pm Tuesday, June 4 – Monday, June 10, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, June 19, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, June 19, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, June 26, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, June 26, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, July 3, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, July 3, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, July 10, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, July 10, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, July 17, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, July 17, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, July 24, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, July 24, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, July 31, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, July 31, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, August 7, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, August 7, 2024

Soundside Market (tentative dates) Wednesday, August 14, 2024
9:00am-1:00pm

Wednesday, August 14, 2024

Sumospeed Beach Bash Saturday, September 14, 2024 11:00am - 6:00pm Saturday, September 14, 2024

Outer Banks Seafood Festival
Saturday, October 19, 2024 10:30am - 6:00pm Wednesday, October 16-Wednesday, October 23, 2024

OBX Brewtag
Saturday, October 26, 2024 11:00am - 6:00pm Wednesday, October 23-Tuesday, October 29, 2024

2024 Soundside Event Site Schedule 



 

 

Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 
 

PUBLIC RELATIONS REPORT: November 2023 
 

 
 SOFT MARKETING 
 
 Visit North Carolina Call Center | Nov 14, 2023  Aaron presented destination education to the call center 
information specialists who answer the public travel queries over the phone at 1-800-VISIT-NC. The 
operators are inmates at the North Carolina Correctional Institution for Women. 

  
CONTENT SPONSORSHIP  

 
Caleb Owolabi | Spring 2024 Aaron is working on a proposal for the Asheville-based film producer and 
host to create a series of voluntourism videos featuring our local non-profit community. Caleb worked on 
our African American cultural sites series in Dare County with our office available online. We’re thinking 
likely a production schedule in Spring 2024. 
 
@CatesCompass | Spring 2024 The OBVB PR team is considering influencer content packages from soft 
adventurist @CatesCompass for next spring. She has 31K following and would produce some owned 
assets and social promotion. 
 
 
EARNED MEDIA IN-DEVELOPMENT 
 
Good Grit | Spring 2024 The OBVB PR team is coordinating an editorial experience for magazine 
contributors Rebecca Deurlein and Nicole Letts next spring. Good Grit is widely available where periodicals 
are sold in the South. Both women freelance for other publications and we’ll be looking to maximize their 
time in-market. We’re aiming to be part of their annual harvest issue that comes out in early fall. 

 
PRESS TRIPS 
 
Global Golf Post | Nov 6-9, 2023  The OBVB PR team along with PlayOBXGolf.com assisted travel editor 
John Steinbreder with his return to the Outer Banks fifty years following his collegiate surveying work of 
local beaches for the National Park Service. Today, John captures a destination’s sense of place through his 
golf course architecture acumen. 200K weekly subscription. 
 
Fodor’s Travel | Nov 10-13, 2023 “Stratton Lawrence is updating the Outer Banks portion of the Fodor’s 
Carolinas & Georgia Travel Guide this fall. The OBVB PR team is assisting his review and travel itinerary. 
We’ve worked with Stratton prior on the current content in Fodor’s that is ready for refreshing. 

 
CONFERENCES 
 
NCTIA Tourism Leadership | Nov 15-16, 2023 Aaron will attend the NC Travel Industry Association annual 
networking conference that includes political updates on the issues being discussed in Raleigh among 
lawmakers that can affect the the tourism industry. We are also working on awards submissions for some 
of our body of work in the past year. 

 
 


	AGENDA NOVEMBER 16 2023
	MINUTES
	Rep letter
	Mgmt letter
	a1
	Budget & Finance Report
	meals and occupancy charts
	bf1
	bf2
	bf3

	Budget Amendment 1 NOV
	marketing dashboard
	Jeff ComEng
	Lorrie Sales
	TOURISM SALES ACTIVITY-Board Report 111623.pdf
	2023 Soundside Event Site Calendar-Nov Board.pdf
	Nov23-board

	Soundside Event Site 2024 Calendar - Nov 23.pdf
	Nov 23


	Aaron PR



